

Version 1.0 | Last updated 01 June 2017

Women, Gender, Social Movements (Switzerland)

By Elisabeth Joris

This article explores the war's impact on women's economic and legal status in Switzerland, a country indirectly affected by the war. It examines the forms and directions of women's mobilisation as well as the differing reactions of charitable women's groups and the women workers' movement to changes affecting nutrition and waged labour. The hopes of women's associations that they would secure the vote in return for a commitment to soldiers' welfare and food security were dashed. The male-defined link between readiness to defend the country and civil rights became further entrenched for many years after the war. Pacifist women, on the other hand, were able to use Switzerland's special position to develop an international network.

Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Women's Waged Labour Under War-related Pressure
- 3 The Family Economy and Family Networks
- 4 Women's Mobilisation
 - **4.1** Voluntary Work under the Aegis of Women's Associations
 - 4.2 Professionalisation of Troop Catering and War Welfare
 - 4.3 In the Belligerents' Service: Nursing, Transports and Tracing Service
 - 4.4 Socialist International Women and the Women Workers' Protest
 - 4.5 Interventions by Pacifist Women Following Hague Conference
- **5** Conclusion: Long-lasting Entrenchment of Gender Roles

Notes

Selected Bibliography

Introduction

In August 1914, Switzerland assumed, as did the belligerent states, that the war would be a short one. Since few or no provisions had been made for the social impact of war, it fell mainly to women, on the one hand, to guarantee the continuity of everyday life – working at home or in waged labour – and, on the other, to attempt to mitigate the plight of the general population via existing women's groups or newly established war relief organisations. It is only recently, in the context of the centenary of the First World War, that this mobilisation of women has been given broader consideration.^[1] Previous research was carried out primarily in relation to the historical development of women's groups.^[2] Regula Stämpli's study of women's involvement in national defence is still the standard reference work on this subject.^[3] Among the publications that appeared around 2014, Heidi Witzig in particular focuses on women and the history of everyday life, while Elisabeth Joris focuses on the history of the women's movement.^[4] The Gosteli foundation in Worblaufen is home to a wealth of sources on the women's movement and on catering for the troops.^[5]

Bearing in mind the key fact that Switzerland was not directly involved in military hostilities, this article examines how the war affected women's work: waged labour in general and factory work in particular; women's duties within the family economy; voluntary work within women's associations and in the form of humanitarian aid to belligerents; and the professionalisation of domestic work in the context of catering for troops and general war relief. The goals women associated with this involvement are also explored. Although they gained greater opportunities for active participation, women were still denied equal rights. They carried a greater load at home and made a greater contribution to civil society. While the authorities expected the latter from women, and acknowledged this in public discourse, at the same time they were reminded that their place was on the "home front" or at the kitchen sink. The traditional and close association in Switzerland between *Staatsbürgerschaft* (civil rights) and *Wehrbereitschaft* (readiness to defend) played a legitimising role, reinforced by public emphasis on manning the borders to protect Switzerland from the war.

Women's Waged Labour Under War-related Pressure

In pre-war Switzerland, women accounted for around 40 percent of factory workers, as the textile and food industries were significant employers. Many more women were employed in domestic service, retail, farming, and tourism. During the war years, the number of women in waged labour increased, albeit to a limited extent. In August 2014 approximately 200,000 men – one-eighth of the workforce – were mobilised, although this number fell rapidly afterwards. The composition of troops was planned with as much flexibility as possible to minimise shortages in the labour market. On average, soldiers spent 550 to 600 days in active service over the four war years, but even if more women entered the workforce, it was impossible to make up for the loss of the men's income:

women were paid only 55 percent of a male worker's industrial wage, and only 7 to 10 percent of female factory workers were unionised.^[6]

Because Switzerland was relatively protected from the war, gender differences in relation to waged labour were different than in neighbouring countries, though gender-specific discrimination was much the same. [7] The tourist industry collapsed almost immediately, but by 1915-1916 most other sectors were enjoying a war-time boom. In particular, there was a marked increase in orders from belligerent nations for all kinds of goods. The resulting spike in demand for workers led to a relaxation of the Fabrikgesetz (Factory Act) that was designed to protect factory workers; restrictions on women working night shifts and Sundays were relaxed, as were regulations governing the employment of females and juveniles. [8] Munitions factories took on more women workers, but also hired a considerable number of youth, among them many girls. The number of female employees also rose in other sectors of the largely male-dominated metal industry. [9] However, the terms of work and payment for these women were largely excluded from collective wage agreements, and their positions were often precarious.^[10] In many Swiss firms, as indeed in the belligerent states, women were hired as replacements for men who had been called up, so they were only given temporary contracts, even in jobs that required professional qualifications. [11] Quite a few wives took over their soldiering husbands' jobs, becoming postwomen, for example, or working in municipal offices. [12] Temporary jobs also opened up for women in the production of military uniforms, gas masks and steel helmets; in catering and laundry for the troops; and in war relief for soldiers' families. [13] The wives of farmers and business owners bore a greatly increased workload while their husbands were away on border duty, and officially detailing soldiers to help with farm work only relived the burden to a limited extent. Because soldiers had few, if any, relevant duties during military service and the frequent military manoeuvres were often seen as pointless time-killing, some women who were suffering from work pressure and food shortages voiced their bitterness about the unequal distribution of labour and responsibilities.[14]

The Family Economy and Family Networks

Communication between mobilised soldiers and their families was usually via laundry bags. When a soldier sent his dirty washing home to female relatives, he often included a letter or postcard about daily life as a soldier, about the food, their living quarters or what they did in their free time, but also about the hardships, the lack of money or the measly bread rations.

In contrast to army provisioning, which was guaranteed throughout the war, the material situation of families deteriorated, not just because of lost income, but also because of inflation, which was rampant particularly from 1916 onwards. There had been little to no economic planning for the event of war.^[15] Between 1914 and 1918, the price index more than doubled, while real wages fell by around one quarter. The rate of inflation varied for different foodstuffs: the price of pork trebled, while

the price of eggs increased almost tenfold. At local levels, municipal authorities took steps as early as 1915, distributing subsidised foodstuffs, for example. But on the national level, the government did not intervene in the market for basic goods until later.^[16] Even so, for most families, basic food supplies were uncertain.

Women from working-class backgrounds, but also from lower middle-class and white-collar circles were taking on all kinds of temporary work. In urban areas, they stepped up production in allotment gardens and re-activated extensive family networks to source fresh vegetables and exchange other farm produce for labour. By contrast, women in wealthy upper middle-class families were not greatly affected by the shortages. They knew how to take advantage of their female servants' and indeed their workers' dependence, using their connections to farm producers to arrange direct supplies of food. Many of these women also benefitted materially from the wartime economy, being related to men in business and financial circles. Their letters and diaries mostly convey an image of family life spared from any great hardship, clouded only by concern for relatives and friends in the countries affected by the war. There is a great deal of patriotic identification with the army, channelled primarily via male relatives serving as army officers; critical questions are rarely voiced. To some extent, the opportunities that the war created for women of the bourgeoisie to become involved in voluntary or relief work gave their lives more meaning. Many of them worked closely with men from their own social circles and were able to use their influence when dealing with the army and administrative authorities.^[17]

Women's Mobilisation

While the women workers' movement and the <u>pacifists</u> firmly rejected the close association in Swiss discourse between compulsory military service and civil rights, it still played a significant role in mobilising other sections of the women's movement. The government's appeal to women to remain "calm and collected" was interpreted by many women's groups as both a call to patriotic duty and an emancipatory opportunity. Socially committed middle-class women pitched in, thinking that they would ultimately secure the vote in public recognition of their commitment. Social democrat women, on the other hand, rejected the idea of suffrage as a reward for duties performed and demanded the unconditional right to vote in the name of equal rights. They did not condemn the voluntary work done by women's organisations in general, but made increasingly explicit demands, in line with the workers' movement, for legislative measures to reduce the hardship caused by the war.

Voluntary Work under the Aegis of Women's Associations

In order to take an active role as citizens, women's associations whose main goals were equality at work and equality before the law had no choice but to work with the charitable women's organisations, as these had the necessary experience and networks. Therefore, feminists, who were mainly based in the cities, pushed for formal cooperation between all women's organisations so that they could benefit from the existing structures for charitable work and, at the same time, establish

their claim to equal rights. [19] Cooperation between women's associations at local levels did in fact prove more effective than the local authorities in terms of distributing clothing and food, processing fruit and vegetables, and organising work that unemployed women or soldiers' wives could do at home. In some areas - for example, in cities like Zurich and St Gallen - women's groups joined forces to create new Frauenzentralen (local unions of women's associations), in part to coordinate relief work more effectively. The main drivers of women's involvement in this relief work were those sections of the Schweizerischer Gemeinnütziger Frauenverein (umbrella body of women's associations for public benefit) that were close to the politically dominant Liberals and already had considerable experience in collecting money and providing practical relief. For example, they set up soup kitchens, had thousands of socks knitted for soldiers, and ran laundries for unmarried soldiers where hundreds of women volunteered alongside a small number of paid staff. [20] The Nationale Frauenspende (national women's contribution) was a counterpart to the *Dienstersatzsteuer* (military substitute tax) paid by men who were unable to serve on health grounds or for other reasons. It was launched in 1915 by Emma Graf (1865-1926) and women's rights activists from Bern with the slogan "Pflichten erfüllen, heißt Rechte begründen" ("To fulfil duties is to establish rights"). The Schweizerischer Frauenstimmrechtsverband (Swiss Association for Women's Suffrage) turned down an appeal to contribute through this donation to the costs of mobilisation, on the grounds that women should be given the right to vote regardless of whether they took on any other duties. But the proposed Frauenspende received widespread support within the Schweizerischer Gemeinnütziger Frauenverein, which saw it as a way to demonstrate patriotic commitment. It also allowed the umbrella organisation to further consolidate the position it had achieved in pre-war years as the preferred representative of Swiss women as far as the authorities were concerned.^[21] The sum of one million Swiss francs, handed over to the government without any preconditions, was used first and foremost to finance the Wehrmannsfürsorge (Aid for Soldiers) under the aegis of the soldier's welfare association Schweizer Verband Soldatenwohl.[22]

Professionalisation of Troop Catering and War Welfare

Within a very short time, the *Schweizer Verband Soldatenwohl*, which was closely linked with the temperance movement, set up canteens and relaxation areas for soldiers in almost every corner of Switzerland, making use of schoolrooms, workshops, and barracks. These *Soldatenstuben* (soldiers' rooms) multiplied rapidly under the leadership of journalist Else Spiller (1881-1948); Züblin-Spiller from 1920). [23] The *Soldatenstuben* changed location according to troop movements and were run by women with domestic science training who were paid for their work, so-called *Soldatenmütter* (soldiers' mothers). With this model, Spiller broke down the traditional demarcation between paid and unpaid work for women, creating the first paid positions for housewives in Switzerland, and that in the typically male domain of the army. [24] The association could not manage without unpaid work, however. At local level, charitable women's groups and "ladies' committees" helped out, too. This allowed the association to take on additional infrastructural tasks, such as mending and laundry for unmarried soldiers, along the lines of existing war laundries, and to extend the range of welfare Women, Gender, Social Movements (Switzerland) - 1914-1918-Online

provisions. Financial and material costs were covered by donations and in-kind support on the one hand, by money from the *Nationale Frauenspende* on the other. The latter was also the chief source of funding for the *Wehrmannsfürsorge* (Aid for Soldiers) initiated by Spiller. By the end of the war, the *Schweizer Verband Soldatenwohl* had mustered around 1,000 women "from the upper echelons" to gather information at local and regional levels about families who might need support because they had lost income when their men were mobilised. In order to put the *Wehrmannsfürsorge* on secure financial footing, it was annexed to the Swiss Army in 1917, though it still remained an integral part of the *Soldatenwohl* association. Later, in autumn 1918, when Swiss soldiers were hit by the Spanish Flu, Spiller took over from the army leadership and rapidly set up emergency hospitals, again mainly in close cooperation with local women's groups or *Frauenzentralen*.

The success of the *Schweizer Verband Soldatenwohl* lay in its strategy of involving women from many and various backgrounds, and in having a mix of paid and unpaid work. The professionalisation of domestic and social work opened new professional opportunities, while the involvement of women in a voluntary capacity created the basis for a network that would grow over time and become politically significant. In addition, cooperation with local women's groups allowed the *Soldatenwohl* association to capitalise on their fundraising experience and practical voluntary work. [25]

In the Belligerents' Service: Nursing, Transports and Tracing Service

As a result of the federal decree of 1903 regarding voluntary medical support for war-related purposes, any institutions that trained nurses and received a state subsidy to that end were obliged to provide nursing staff for the army in the event of war. During the First World War, almost 700 nurses from twelve training hospitals and schools of nursing served short terms in military service. Around 200 nurses from German-speaking Switzerland were sent to Austria-Hungary to nurse the wounded, where they worked under the aegis of the *Schwesternverein der Berufsorganisation der Krankenpflegerinnen Deutschlands* (Association of German Nurses). This mission was arranged by Swiss nurse Emmy Oser (1870-1929), who was honorary vice-president of the International Council of Nurses (ICN), and her German colleague Agnes Karll (1868-1927). Through various medical networks, twenty nurses from French-speaking Switzerland were assigned to Evian, and around three dozen worked with American Nobel Prize-winner Dr Alexis Carrel (1873-1944) in Compiègne in northern France. In the gender-specific thinking of the time, these assignments were understood to be "unpolitical women's work" and of a humanitarian nature. None of the belligerents interpreted them as a breach of Swiss neutrality. [26]

Nurses were also called upon to accompany the war wounded in *Sanitätszüge* (medical convoys). As the Swiss Red Cross was responsible for repatriating injured soldiers and civilians, women accounted for significant numbers of the thousands of volunteers who offered their services to people transiting Switzerland.^[27] Women also served as volunteers where prisoners of war were being exchanged.^[28]

Socialist International Women and the Women Workers' Protest

Because of Switzerland's neutral status, the International Socialist Women's Conference convened in Bern in March 1915, at the instigation of Clara Zetkin (1857-1933) from Germany and Louise Saumoneau (1875-1950) from France. It was the first significant peace rally attended by delegates from the belligerent states. [29] They considered war to be a continuation of the class struggle and condemned the charitable work carried out by "bourgeois" women's groups as effectively supporting the war in the name of patriotism. Following the conference, demonstrations against hunger and inflation took place in major towns and cities in Switzerland, and indeed in other European centres. The protests were mainly organised by the women workers' movement. The so-called *Marktunruhen* (market riots) of summer 1916, when women imposed unilateral price reductions on traders and toppled market stalls, stirred up much attention. Leaders such as Rosa Grimm-Reichesberg (1875-1955) in Bern and Rosa Bloch-Bollag (1880-1922) in Zurich scornfully distanced themselves from charitable women's groups who were suggesting that people should use food supplies sparingly. In summer 1918, up to 15,000 women and men took part in mass demonstrations in Basel and Zurich. In Zurich, Bloch-Bollag fought for the right for herself and two other women workers' representatives to bring their demands before the cantonal parliament; they were the only women allowed to speak directly to the cantonal parliament prior to the introduction of female suffrage in the canton of Zurich in 1970.

Interventions by Pacifist Women Following Hague Conference

Across all ideological barriers, pacifist women associated with the worker's movement cultivated a working relationship with women's rights activists, even when the latter did not always share the former's uncompromising pacifism. Clara Ragaz (1874-1957), founder and for many years president of the Swiss section of the International Committee of Women for Permanent Peace (ICWPP) established at the International Congress of Women in The Hague in 1915, was in close contact with Jane Addams (1860-1935), the well-known American sociologist and pioneer of social work. Ragaz was involved in organising the second congress in Zurich in 1919, at which delegates voted to set up international headquarters in Geneva and rename the organisation the Women's International League for Peace and Freedom (WILPF).^[30] While some of the pacifist women in Switzerland were close to the Dadaists, most of them held similar views to Ragaz, who was closely linked to the socioreligious movement. This line of thought considered female suffrage indispensable so that women, being the biologically gentler sex, could fully engage in the battle against war and social injustice.^[31]

Conclusion: Long-lasting Entrenchment of Gender Roles

After the war ended, women were hardest hit by the economic downturn. According to official statistics, unemployment rose to around 100,000, or 5 percent, by 1922. However, these figures omitted most of the women who lost their war-time jobs, because they were mainly classed as

working in the home rather than unemployed. [32] All the women who had been hoping for an improvement in their legal status after the war lost out, too. While they were commended for making sacrifices and shouldering extra responsibilities during the war, this was couched as praise for selflessly carrying out their duty, which implicitly legitimised deferral of equal legal status for women. Susan R. Grayzel's and Brigitta Bader-Zaar's conclusion that the suffragettes' position was not strengthened by patriotic loyalty can also be applied to Switzerland. Françoise Thébaud's theory would also seem to be borne out, namely that the First World War had no substantive emancipatory effect; rather, it served to cement traditional gender roles. [33] Regula Stämpfli comes to the same conclusion, with specific reference to the Swiss context: The "unconditional, social and cultural priority given to border protection, and hence to soldiers, confirmed the political predominance of men." [34] This misogynistic equation of civil rights with compulsory military service became very obvious in the massive rejection of female suffrage in all referendums, both cantonal and municipal, in the post-war years. It was not until 1971 that Swiss woman were enfranchised on the federal level. This was consolidated in a Constitutional amendment in 1981 that explicitly gives equal rights to men and women. [35]

The post-war legacy of consumer cooperatives like the Association des Productrices de Moudon, and the views they represented, was different. They led to new, cross-party communication networks linking urban and rural communities. The fact that it was now taken for granted that women would be involved in implementing government measures created an opening that bore fruit in the run-up to the Second World War. The canteens set up by Else Spiller were a prime example of this: the tried and tested wartime soldiers' canteens (Soldatenstuben) became the model for factory canteens, which were a run-away success by the 1920s. [36] Job opportunities for women also opened up; indeed, women's associations increased their efforts to improve women's career options after the disappointing suffrage referendums. However, this did little to change the hierarchical concepts of masculinity and femininity that had become even more rigid during the war. [37] On the contrary, advocates of pro-natalist policies in the 1930s cited the patriotic role of mothers during the war and used this to try and limit women's career opportunities. The prioritisation of so-called "women's professions", along with an emphasis on the roles of housewife and mother as the true expression of femininity, dominated even among the women's associations that organised the second Schweizerische Ausstellung für Frauenarbeit (SAFFA; Swiss Exhibition for Women's Work) in 1958. That same year saw the publication of Frauen im Laufgitter (Women in the Playpen) by Iris von Roten (1917–1990), a powerful critique of discrimination against women. [38]

Elisabeth Joris, Universität Bern

Section Editor: Roman Rossfeld

Notes

- 1. † Sinergia Project: Die Schweiz im Ersten Weltkrieg. Transnationale Perspektiven auf einen Kleinstaat im totalen Krieg, Universities of Zurich, Lucerne, Berne and Geneva.
- 1 Mesmer, Beatrix: Staatsbürgerinnen ohne Stimmrecht. Die Politik der schweizerischen Frauenverbände 1914–1971, Zurich 2007, pp. 25-98; Hardmeier, Sibylle: Frühe Frauenstimmrechtsbewegung in der Schweiz (1890–1930). Argumente, Strategien, Netzwerk und Gegenbewegung, Zurich 1997, pp. 25-98.
- 3. ↑ Stämpfli, Regula: Mit der Schürze in die Landesverteidigung. Frauenemanzipation und Schweizer Militär 1914–1945, Zurich 2002.
- 4. † Witzig, Heidi: Alltagsleben und Alltagserleben während des Ersten Weltkriegs. Frauen und Männer der Mittel- und Oberschicht im Zürcher Oberland, in: Hebeisen, Erika / Niederhäuser, Peter / Schmid, Regula (eds.): Kriegs- und Krisenzeit. Zürich während des Ersten Weltkriegs Mitteilungen der Antiquarischen Gesellschaft in Zürich, vol. 81, Zurich 2014, pp. 75-86; Witzig, Heidi: Krieg! Krieg? Kriegsalltag und Kriegserleben einer Familie aus dem Basler Bildungsbürgertum, in: Rossfeld, Roman / Buomberger, Thomas / Kury, Patrick (eds.): 14/18. Die Schweiz und der Große Krieg, Baden (CH) 2014, pp. 200-211; Witzig, Heidi: Leben und Arbeiten in Winterthur während dem 1. Weltkrieg, in: Niederhäuser, Peter / Egli, Nanina (eds.): Winterthurer Jahrbuch 2014, Winterthur 2013, pp. 161-167; Joris, Elisabeth: Umdeutung und Ausblendung. Entpolitisierung des Engagements von Frauen im Ersten Weltkrieg in Erinnerungsschriften, in: Kuhn, Konrad J. / Ziegler, Béatrice (eds.): Der vergessene Krieg. Spuren und Traditionen zur Schweiz im Ersten Weltkrieg, Baden (CH) 2014, pp. 133-151; Joris, Elisabeth / Schumacher, Beatrice: Helfen macht stark. Dynamik im Wechselspiel von privater Fürsorge und staatlichem Sozialwesen, in: Rossfeld / Buomberger / Kury, 14/18 2014, pp. 316-335.
- 5. ↑ Archiv zur Geschichte der schweizerischen Frauenbewegung, Gosteli-Stiftung, Worblaufen.
- 6. † Tanner, Jakob: Geschichte der Schweiz im 20. Jahrhundert, München 2015, pp. 118-122; Koller, Christian: Labour, Labour Movements, Trade Unions and Strikes (Switzerland), issued by Freie Universität Berlin, online: http://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/labour_labour_movements_trade_unions_and_strikes_switzerland; Straumann, Tobias: Wartime and Post-war Economies (Switzerland), issued by Freie Universität Berlin, online: http://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/wartime_and_post-war economies switzerland.
- 7. † Grayzel, Susan R.: Women's Mobilization for War, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, online: http://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/womens_mobilization_for_war.
- 8. ↑ Rossfeld, Roman / Straumann, Tobias: Zwischen den Fronten oder an allen Fronten? Eine Einführung, in: Rossfeld, Roman / Straumann, Tobias (eds.): Der vergessene Wirtschaftskrieg. Schweizer Unternehmen im Ersten Weltkrieg, Zurich 2008, pp. 29, 32-33.
- 9. † Rossfeld, Roman: Rechte hat nur, wer Kraft hat. Anmerkungen zur Schweizer Wirtschaft im Ersten Weltkrieg, in: Rossfeld / Buomberger / Kury, 14/18 2014, pp. 152-161.
- 10. ↑ Seifert, Annatina: Rohstoffmangel und Hetzkampagne. Der Nahrungsmittelkonzern Maggi 1913–1923, in: Rossfeld / Straumann, Wirtschaftskrieg 2008, p. 370.
- 11. ↑ Thébaud, Françoise: Der Erste Weltkrieg. Triumph der Geschlechtertrennung, in: Duby, Georges / Perrot, Michelle (eds.): Geschichte der Frauen, vol. 5.; Thébaud, Françoise (ed.): 20. Jahrhundert, Frankfurt et al. 1995, pp. 59-63.
- 12. ↑ Witzig, Alltagsleben und Alltagserleben 2014, pp. 80-81.

- 13. † Joris / Schumacher: Helfen 2014, pp. 322-328.
- 14. ↑ Joris, Elisabeth / Witzig, Heidi: Brave Frauen aufmüpfige Weiber. Wie sich die Industrialisierung auf Alltag und Lebenszusammehänge von Frauen auswirkte (1820–1940), Zürich 1992, pp. 148-153; Witzig: Alltagsleben und Alltagserleben 2014, pp. 76-77.; Schmid-Itten / Meili-Lüthi / Wyler: Der Grenzdienst der Schweizerin, pp. 40-42.
- 15. ↑ Moser, Peter: Mehr als eine Übergangszeit. Die Neuordnung der Ernährungsfrage während des Ersten Weltkriegs, in: Rossfeld / Buomberger / Kury: 14/18 2014, p. 175.
- 16. ↑ Koller: Labour; Tanner, Geschichte der Schweiz 2015, pp. 141-147.
- 17. † Witzig: Alltagsleben und Alltagserleben 2014, pp. 77-79, 82-85; Witzig: Leben und Arbeiten in Winterthur 2013, p. 164; Joris / Witzig: Brave Frauen 1992, pp. 146-148.
- 18. † Stämpfli: Mit der Schürze 2002, p. 60; Stämpfli, Regula: Triumph der Geschlechtertrennung in der Schweiz 1918–1945, in: Dejung, Christof / Stämpfli, Regula (eds.): Armee, Staat und Geschlecht. Die Schweiz im internationalen Vergleich 1918–1945, Zurich 2003, pp. 213-228.
- ↑ Mesmer, Beatrix: Jubiläen und Geschichtsbilder. Einige Bemerkungen zur Selbstdarstellung der Frauenzentralen, in: Belser, Katharina et al. (eds.): Solidarität – Streit – Widerspruch. Festschrift für Judith Jánoska, Zurich 1991, p. 45.
- 20. † Joris / Schumacher: Helfen, 2014, p. 329.
- 21. † Mesmer: Staatsbürgerinnen, 51-55.
- 22. † Joris, Elisabeth: Züblin-Spiller, Else, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, online: http://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/zublin-spiller_else.
- 23. ↑ See Tanner: Fabrikmahlzeit 1999, pp. 273-309; Stämpfli: Mit der Schürze, pp. 40-50.
- 24. † Stämpfli: Mit der Schürze, p. 77.
- 25. ↑ Joris / Schumacher: Helfen 2014, pp. 322-330.
- 26. † Braunschweig, Sabine: Ohne Unterschied jedem verwundeten Krieger helfen. Schweizer Krankenpflegerinnen in ausländischen Militärspitälern im Ersten Weltkrieg, in: Braunschweig, Sabine (ed.): Als habe es die Frauen nicht gegeben. Beiträge zur Frauen- und Geschlechtergeschichte, Zurich 2014, pp. 145-160; Joris, Elisabeth: Ein Fotoalbum für Schulschwester Anna Riesen. Fotografien im Archiv der Schweizerischen Pflegerinnenschule, in: PflegeKrisen, Traverse. Zeitschrift für Geschichte 19 (2012), p. 138; Christa Hämmerle: Heimat/Front. Geschlechtergeschichte/n des Ersten Weltkriegs in Österreich-Ungarn, Vienna et al. 2014, pp. 44-50.
- 27. † Cotter, Cédric / Herrmann, Irène: Hilfe zum Selbstschutz. Die Schweiz und ihre humanitäre Werke, in: Rossfeld / Buomberger / Kury, 14/18 2014, pp. 244-246, 251-261; Bürgisser, Thomas: Menschlichkeit aus Staatsräson. Die Internierung ausländischer Kriegsgefangener in der Schweiz im Ersten Weltkrieg, in: Rossfeld / Buomberger / Kury, 14/18 2014, p. 269.
- 28. † Cotter / Herrmann: Humanitäre Werke 2014, pp. 246-250.
- 29. ↑ Grayzel, Susan R.: Women's Mobilization for War, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, online: http://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/womens_mobilization_for_war; Callesen, Gerd: Die Internationalen Sozialistischen Frauenkonferenzen, issued by Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, online: http://library.fes.de/si-online/frauen-intro-dt.html

- 30. † Benz, Sibylle: Frauenfriedensarbeit in der Schweiz zur Zeit des Ersten Weltkriegs, in: Ludi, Regula / Lüthi, Ruth / Rytz, Regula (eds.): Frauen zwischen Anpassung und Widerstand. Beiträge der 50 Schweizerischen Historikerinnentagung, Zurich 1990, pp. 69-84; Witzig, Heidi: Clara Ragaz. Ihr Engagement für den Frieden im Licht der neuen Bewegungsforschung, in: Neue Wege 102/1 (2008), pp. 8-12; Wilmers, Annika: Pazifismus in der internationalen Frauenbewegung 1914-1920. Handlungsspielräume, politische Konzeptionen und gesellschaftliche Auseinandersetzungen, Essen 2008; Grayzel: Women's Mobilization.
- 31. † Studer, Brigitte: Ragaz [-Nadig], Clara, issued by Historisches Lexion der Schweiz, online: http://www.hls-dhs-dss.ch/textes/d/D10792.php.
- 32. † Tanner: Geschichte der Schweiz 2015, pp. 172-73.
- 33. † Thébaud: Triumph der Geschlechtertrennung 1995, p. 91. On the controversy, see: Bader-Zaar, Birgitta: Controversy. War-related Changes in Gender Relations. The Issue of Women's Citizenship, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, online: http://encyclopedia.1914-1918-online.net/article/controversy_war-related_changes_in_gender_relations_the_issue_of_womens_citizenship.
- 34. ↑ Stämpfli: Mit der Schürze 2002, p. 83.
- 35. ↑ See Schweizerischer Verband für Frauenrechte (ed.): Der Kampf um gleiche Rechte, Schwabe und Basel 2009; Mesmer: Staatsbürgerinnen 2007.
- 36. ↑ Tanner: Fabrikmahlzeit 1999, pp. 279-301.
- 37. † Ziegler, Béatrice: Hierarchisierungen in der Grenzbesetzung. Zivilgesellschaft und Armee im Film "Gilberte de Courgenay", in: Kuhn / Ziegler: Der vergessene Krieg 2014, pp. 247-265; Joris, Elisabeth: Krieg, Propaganda und Geschlecht, in: Dejung / Stämpfli: Armee 2003, pp. 239-248.
- 38. † Von Roten, Iris: Frauen im Laufgitter. Offene Worte zur Stellung der Frau, Wettingen 2014.

Selected Bibliography

Braunschweig, Sabine: 'Ohne Unterschied jedem verwundeten Krieger helfen'. Schweizer Krankenpflegerinnen in ausländischen Militärspitälern im Ersten Weltkrieg, in: Braunschweig, Sabine (ed.): 'Als habe es die Frauen nicht gegeben'. Beiträge zur Frauen- und Geschlechtergeschichte, Zurich 2014: Chronos, pp. 145-160.

Joris, Elisabeth: Umdeutung und Ausblendung. Entpolitisierung des Engagements von Frauen im Ersten Weltkrieg in Erinnerungsschriften, in: Kuhn, Konrad / Ziegler, Béatrice (eds.): Der vergessene Krieg. Spuren und Traditionen zur Schweiz im Ersten Weltkrieg, Baden 2014: hier + jetzt, pp. 133–151.

Joris, Elisabeth / Schumacher, Beatrice: **Helfen macht stark. Dynamik im Wechselspiel von privater Fürsorge und staatlichem Sozialwesen**, in: Rossfeld, Roman / Buomberger, Thomas / Kury, Patrick (eds.): 14/18. Die Schweiz und der Grosse Krieg, Baden 2014: hier + jetzt, pp. 316–335.

Labhardt, Robert: Krieg und Krise. Basel 1914-1918, Basel 2014: Christoph Merian Verlag.

Mesmer, Beatrix: Staatsbürgerinnen ohne Stimmrecht. Die Politik der schweizerischen Frauenverbände 1914-1971, Zurich 2007: Chronos.

Mesmer, Beatrix: Jubiläen und Geschichtsbilder. Einige Bemerkungen zur Selbstdarstellung der Frauenzentralen, in: Belser, Katharina / Ryter, Elisabeth; Ulmi, Marianne et al. (eds.): Solidarität - Streit - Widerspruch. Festschrift für Judith Jánoska, Zurich 1991: eFeF-Verlag, pp. 41-52.

Stämpfli, Regula: Mit der Schürze in die Landesverteidigung. Frauenemanzipation und Schweizer Militär, 1914-1945, Zurich 2002: Orell Füssli.

Stämpfli, Regula: **Triumph der Geschlechtertrennung in der Schweiz 1918-1945**, in: Dejung, Christof / Stämpfli, Regula (eds.): Armee, Staat und Geschlecht. Die Schweiz im internationalen Vergleich 1918-1945, Zurich 2003: Chronos, pp. 213-228.

Tanner, Jakob: **Fabrikmahlzeit. Ernährungswissenschaft, Industriearbeit und Volksernährung in der Schweiz 1890-1950**, Zurich 1999: Chronos.

Witzig, Heidi: **Leben und Arbeiten in Winterthur während dem 1. Weltkrieg**, in: Gesellschaft Winterthurer Jahrbuch (ed.): Winterthurer Jahrbuch 2014, Winterthur 2014: Mattenbach AG, pp. 161-167.

Witzig, Heidi: Alltagsleben und Alltagserleben während des Ersten Weltkriegs. Frauen und Männer der Mittel- und Oberschicht im Zürcher Oberland, in: Hebeisen, Erika / Niederhäuser, Peter / Schmid, Regula (eds.): Kriegs- und Krisenzeit. Zürich während des Ersten Weltkriegs, Zurich 2014: Chronos, pp. 75-86.

Witzig, Heidi: Krieg! – Krieg? Kriegsalltag und Kriegserleben einer Familie aus dem Basler Bildungsbürgertum, in: Rossfeld, Roman / Buomberger, Thomas / Kury, Patrick (eds.): 14/18. Die Schweiz und der Grosse Krieg, Baden 2014: hier + jetzt, pp. 200-211.

Ziegler, Béatrice: **Arbeit – Körper – Öffentlichkeit. Berner und Bieler Frauen zwischen Diskurs und Alltag (1919-1945)**, Zurich 2007: Chronos.

Citation

Joris, Elisabeth: Women, Gender, Social Movements (Switzerland), in: 1914-1918-online. International Encyclopedia of the First World War, ed. by Ute Daniel, Peter Gatrell, Oliver Janz, Heather Jones, Jennifer Keene, Alan Kramer, and Bill Nasson, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin 2017-06-01. **DOI**: 10.15463/ie1418.11105.

License

This text is licensed under: CC by-NC-ND 3.0 Germany - Attribution, Non-commercial, No Derivative Works.